IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00738

MILDRED ELAINE THOMPSON RAYNER, INDIVIDUALLY, AND BILLY JOE BYNUM, AS NATURAL FATHER AND NEXT FRIEND OF BILLY JOE DAVID BYNUM, A MINOR

APPELLANTS

VS.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

J. Edward Rainer, MSB

Edward Remo

Gary Lee Williams, MSB #

Attorneys for the Appellant

2006 Courtside Dr.

Post Office Box 258

Brandon MS 39043

Telephone- 601.825.0212

Fascimile - 601.825.0219

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00738

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Circuit Court of the Twentieth District for the State of Mississippi granted a Summary Judgment Motion finding "since the final judgment in Cause No. 2007-73C in this Court held the Plaintiffs are not legally entitled to recover against the County/deputy, etc., the Court finds that no UM benefits are owed to Plaintiffs under the State Farm Policy." This Court must decide whether or not a person is "legally entitled" to recover against their Uninsured Motorist Insurance Provider when they are involved in an accident with a person who is entitled to immunity under Mississippi Code Section 11-46-9(1)(c).

Additionally, this Court should decide whether or not an Uninsured Motorist Insurance Provider may assert the defenses of the tortfeasor when the defense is sovereign immunity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of a grant of summary judgment in favor of State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company (hereafter "State Farm" or "appellee"), in the Twentieth Circuit Court District for the State of Mississippi. The Complaint was filed by Mildred Elaine Thompson Rayner and her grandson Billy Joe David Bynum (hereafter "Appellants") based upon personal injuries and property damages received in a collision with Deputy Michael B. McCarty of the Rankin County Sheriff's Department on or about March 22, 2006. Appellants, in an earlier lawsuit, brought an action against the Rankin County Sheriff's Department and Deputy Michael McCarty. The trial court in that action held that the Rankin County Sheriff's Department and Michael McCarty were entitled to immunity under Mississippi Code Section 11-46-9(1)(c), where police actions do not rise to the level of reckless disregard. Additionally, the court found there were no genuine issues of material fact with regard to the manner in which the accident occurred, and that the evidence presented demonstrated the Deputy involved did not act with reckless disregard. This Court affirmed the trial Court's decision.

After exhausting all administrative remedies against the State of Mississippi, Appellant's brought an action against their uninsured motorist insurance provider, State Farm in Cause No. 2009-36. Appellee made a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting where a tortfeasor is absolved from legal liability based upon an immunity, he is not legally liable for UM analysis purposes and no UM payment obligation is present. The Circuit Court for the Twentieth Judicial District granted Summary Judgment to the Appellee finding "since the final judgment in Cause No. 2007-73C in this Court held the Plaintiffs are not legally entitled to recover against the County/deputy, etc., the Court finds that no UM benefits are owed to Plaintiffs under the State

Farm Policy." This Court must decide whether the Circuit Court of the Twentieth District's decision should be reversed and remanded based upon a misapplication of law when interpreting "legally entitled to recover" as applied to the state uninsured motorist provisions and granting summary judgment to Appellee.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

This case began when the Appellants initiated suit on February 6, 2009 by filing a Complaint in the Twentieth District Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi.

Appellee/State Farm received notice of the Complaint and filed it's Answer and Motion to Dismiss on the Pleadings and/or Undisputed Facts said Motion being filed with the circuit court on February 27, 2009.

On December 9, 2009, the trial court granted appellee/State Farm a final judgment of dismissal finding "since the Final Judgment in Cause No 2007-73C in this Court held that Plaintiffs are not legally entitled to recover against Deputy/County etc., the Court finds that no UM benefits are owed to Plaintiffs under the State Farm policy. State Farm is therefore entitled to Summary Judgment on those grounds." On December 15, 2009, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration. On April 27, 2010, the trial Court affirmed it's Order granting Summary Judgment to State Farm. Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 5, 2010.

C. Statement of the Facts

On March 22, 2006, around 1:30 p.m., Michael McCarty, a deputy employed with the Rankin County Sheriff's Department Court Services Division, was on his way home for lunch. At the same time, Mildred Rayner and her infant grandson Billy Joe David Bynum (hereafter "Appellants") were traveling East towards Appellant Rayner's home on U.S. Highway 18.

While on his way home for lunch, at the intersection of Star Road and Highway 468, Deputy McCarty heard a call go out over dispatch that there was a "disturbance".

Deputy McCarty then proceeded South on Hwy 468 toward the intersection of Hwy 468 and Hwy 18. As Deputy McCarty approached the intersection, there was a van in the left hand turn lane of Highway 468, another SUV going West on Highway 18, and another vehicle in the center turn lane. Deputy McCarty then proceeded into the oncoming lane of traffic, with his view from the east obstructed, and ran through the intersection against a red light. At about the same time, Mildred Rayner was approaching the same intersection. On her approach, the Appellant slowed down upon seeing the road sign indicating that there was a light ahead. As Mrs. Rayner proceeded through the intersection while facing a green street light, she suddenly saw a flash of white and thereafter felt a tremendous blow to the car holding herself and her infant grandson. Immediately thereafter, the Appellants felt a second blow. Mrs. Rayner never saw the police vehicle in her approach to the intersection.

Mildred Rayner and the car being operated by her were at all times mentioned herein insured under a policy of automobile insurance (Policy No. 18 1046-E01-24B) through the Appellee/State Farm, that provides, *inter alia*, uninsured motorist protection for benefits and payment of up to \$25,000 per person and \$50,000 per accident. Mrs. Rayner had multiple lines of insurance with Appellee/State Farm.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on a Motion for Summary Judgment, the Supreme Court conducts a *de novo* review and examines all evidentiary matters, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits. *Progressive Gulf Ins. Co. v. Dickerson And Bowen, Inc.*, 965 So. 2d 1050, 1052 (Miss. 2007). On appeal of a summary judgment, the Supreme Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion was made. *Id.* at 1053. Furthermore, a *de novo* standard of review applies to questions of law. *See Windham v. Latco of Miss.*, *Inc.*, 972 So.2d 608, 610 (Miss. 2008).

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erroneously applied the law when construing the standard for "legally entitled to recover" and therefore, Appellee/State Farm is not entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. The Circuit Court held "since the final judgment in Cause No. 2007-73C in this Court held the Plaintiffs are not legally entitled to recover against the County/deputy, etc., the Court finds that no UM benefits are owed to Plaintiffs under the State Farm Policy." This Court shall review, *de novo*, whether or not State Farm may assert the defense of the tortfeasor when that defense is sovereign immunity and/or whether or not a person is "legally entitled to recover" against their Uninsured Motorist Provider when they are involved in an accident with a person who is entitled to immunity under Mississippi Code Section 11-46-9(1)(c).

ARGUMENT

"By statute¹, purchasers of automobile liability insurance have a right to purchase UM coverage." *MSPRAC-ENC* § 40:130. The goal of Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-101, is to provide an avenue for an innocent party to protect themselves against bodily injury and damages that were no fault of their own. By simply reading the statute, it is clear that the plain meaning of Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-101 was drafted and created to serve as the baseline wherein Uninsured Motorist Coverage should operate and not as the ceiling for which liability may fall.

Moreover, Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-103 (c) defines the term "uninsured motor vehicle" to mean:

Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-101(1). provides that "no automobile liability insurance policy or contract shall be issued or delivered ... unless it contains an endorsement or provisions undertaking to pay the insured all sums which he shall be legally entitled to recover as damages for bodily injury or death from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle." Subsection (b) provides that the insured also be given the opportunity to purchase UM coverage for property damage.

"(i) A motor vehicle as to which there is no bodily injury liability insurance; or (ii) A motor vehicle as to which there is such insurance in existence, but the insurance company writing the same has legally denied coverage thereunder or is unable, because of being insolvent at the time of or becoming insolvent during the twelve (12) months following the accident, to make payment with respect to the legal liability of its insured; or (iii) An insured motor vehicle, when the liability insurer of such vehicle has provided limits of bodily injury liability for its insured which are less than the limits applicable to the injured person provided under his uninsured motorist coverage; or (iv) A motor vehicle as to which there is no bond or deposit of cash or securities in lieu of such bodily injury and property damage liability insurance or other compliance with the state financial responsibility law, or where there is such bond or deposit of cash or securities, but such bond or deposit is less than the legal liability of the injuring party; or (v) A motor vehicle of which the owner or operator is unknown; provided that in order for the insured to recover under the endorsement where the owner or operator of any motor vehicle which causes bodily injury to the insured is unknown, actual physical contact must have occurred between the motor vehicle owned or operated by such unknown person and the person or property of the insured; or (vi) A motor vehicle owned or operated by a person protected by immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, Title 11, Chapter 46, Mississippi Code of 1972, if the insured has exhausted all administrative remedies under that chapter." (emphasis added).

Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-103 subsections (ii) and (vi) encompass the automobile driven by Deputy McCarty of the Rankin County Sheriff's Department during the accident between he and Appellants on March 22, 2006 to be within the definition of "uninsured motor vehicle". The state of Mississippi certainly would not have added subsection (vi) to the definition of "uninsured motor vehicle" on July 1, 2009 had the state intended for such vehicles to be excluded from an insureds' uninsured motorist coverage.

This Court has held that "Mississippi's Uninsured Motorist Vehicle Act must be liberally construed to maximize the humanitarian coverage it provides." Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. Co. v. Poole (N.D.Miss. 1976) 411 F.Supp. 429, affirmed 539 F.2d 574. (Emphasis Added). This language was reiterated in Guardianship of Lacy, wherein the Mississippi Supreme Court held the "[u]ninsured motorist statute should be construed liberally in favor of insured and to

strictly avoid or preclude exceptions or exemptions from coverage." Guardianship of Lacy v. Allstate Ins. Co., 649 So.2d 195, (Miss. 1995) (Emphasis Added).

In State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Nester, the Mississippi Supreme Court found "the purpose of the uninsured motorist provision is to provide the insured a means of collecting that to which he is legally entitled for bodily injuries caused by accident arising out of the ownership, maintenance and use of an uninsured automobile. This provision must be construed from the perspective of the injured insured, from whose standpoint a tort-feasor operating an automobile with no insurance available is an uninsured motorist. It is all the same to him whether there is no insurance at all, or a policy that is incapable of being applied to satisfy his claim because the tort-feasor's insurer <u>lawfully</u> disclaims liability." State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Nester 459 So.2d 787, 790 (Miss., 1984) (Emphasis added). Clearly, Deputy McCarty was driving an "uninsured motor vehicle" according to Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-103. As the Nester Court held, the criteria used to determine whether or not an insured is entitled to make an Uninsured Motorist claim is not whether there is no insurance, but the ultimate question is whether or not the insurance is available. In the instant case, there is a policy that is incapable of being applied to satisfy Appellee's claim because the State has lawfully disclaimed liability through immunity. Thus, there is no insurance available, thereby making the Rankin County Sheriff's Department and Deputy McCarty an uninsured motorist.

In regard to Appellee's assertion that Appellant is not "legally entitled to recover" damages from the tort-feasor, Appellee cites *Medders v. U.S Fidelity and Gauranty, Co.*. *Medders* is a case where "[h]eirs of an employee killed while riding as passenger in vehicle driven by coemployee acting in course and scope of his employment could not recover uninsured motorist benefits from employer's insurer; under statute and policy, heirs could only recover

those sums they were 'legally entitled to recover' from uninsured motorist and, since uninsured motorist was coemployee, exclusive remedy provision of Workers' Compensation Act barred recovery." *Medders*, 623 So.2d 979 (Miss.,1993). Throughout the Medders case, this Court notes that "in disposing of the issue ("legally entitled to recover") one must of necessity speak to the *interrelationship between the exclusive remedy clause of the compensation act* and *the coverage of the UM statute*." *Id.* A plaintiff in a Worker's Compensation claim does have the alternative of seeking a remedy for damages through the Workers Compensation Act rather than his employer's uninsured motorist coverage, whereas to come to same conclusion in the instant case would bar Appellant completely and forever from *any remedy*. Such a conclusion spits in the face of this Court's prior holdings that the uninsured motorist coverage should be interpreted broadly from the position of the insured and the efforts to interpret uninsured motorist statutes liberally in favor of the insured and to strictly avoid or preclude exceptions or exemptions from coverage.

"The purpose of Miss.Code Ann. § 11-46-9 is to 'protect law enforcement personnel from lawsuits arising out of the performance of their duties in law enforcement, with respect to the alleged victim.' Police officers and fire fighters are more likely to be exposed to dangerous situations and to liability, and therefore, public policy requires that they not be liable for mere negligence." *Maldonado v. Kelly* 768 So.2d 906, 909 (Miss.2000) *citing City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373. (Miss. 2000) Similarly, "Mississippi's Uninsured Motorist Vehicle Act must be liberally construed to maximize the humanitarian coverage it provides." *Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. Co. v. Poole* (N.D.Miss. 1976) 411 F.Supp. 429, affirmed 539 F.2d 574. Clearly the purpose of the Miss.Code Ann. § 11-46-9 is to protect law enforcement agencies from lawsuits, but if not for any other reason other reason other than public policy, uninsured motorist coverage

should extend to insureds where the state is clearly negligent but their actions are found not to rise to the level of reckless disregard. Realizing the purpose of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and the purpose of Miss. Code Ann. § 83-11-101, this Court simply cannot find the legislative intent to exclude insureds from receiving their uninsured motorists benefits when an accident arises with a state actor cloaked in immunity.

This is a case of first impression as to whether or not an insurance company is allowed to claim the immunity of the state as a defense to an insureds claims under their uninsured motorist coverage. "It has been held that if the insured cannot recover from the uninsured motorist because of some bar such as interspousal immunity, parent-child immunity, or a guest statute, the insured is not legally entitled to recover and the insurer is thus not required to pay." Am. Jur. 2d, Automobile Insurance § 297. However, in the following cases involving uninsured motorist provisions under which the insurance carrier sought to avoid liability on the ground that its insured was not legally entitled to collect damages from the owner or operator of the uninsured vehicle because of governmental immunity, the courts have determined that such immunity did not defeat the insured's right of recovery from the insurer, based primarily upon the broad scope of coverage under uninsured motorist provisions." 55 A.L.R.4th 806

In our sister state of Alabama, the Alabama Supreme Court in State Farm Auto. Ins. Co. v Baldwin, while noting that in a direct action against the insurer by an insured, the insurer would have available the substantive defenses that would have been available to the uninsured motorist, the court also observed that an exclusion in an uninsured motorist clause for accidents involving government vehicles was void, since it conflicted with the intent of the statute to broadly confer coverage in uninsured motorist accidents. The court rejected the insurer's contention that the insured was never "legally entitled to recover damages" against either the driver or the

government, within the meaning of the uninsured motorist law, and therefore was not entitled to recover in a direct action against it. Conceding that such argument was technically correct, the court nevertheless reasoned that the legislative policy of the uninsured motorist statute would not allow the insurer to assert such defense. The court declared that since the insurers could not expressly exclude from uninsured motorist coverage injuries resulting from collisions with government vehicles, it would be completely inappropriate to hold that the insurers might enforce the same exclusion, by implication, because of an anomaly of statutory construction created by the interaction of the serviceman injury exclusion and the uninsured motorist act. State Farm Auto. Ins. Co., 470 So 2d 1230, (1985, Ala).

Likewise, the insureds in Karlson v Oklahoma City, a negligence action against a municipality, were held "legally entitled to recover damages" in excess of the limits of liability imposed by a statute. The plaintiff insureds sued the city for damages for injuries and wrongful death arising out of an automobile collision involving a city police vehicle, and joined their own insurer from which recovery of damages in excess of the act's statutory limit was sought under the uninsured and underinsured motorists provisions of their policy. The court noted that the words "legally entitled to recover" simply meant that the insured must be able to establish fault on the part of the uninsured motorist which would give rise to damages and to prove the extent of those damages. Pointing out that when the insured and the insurer entered into their contract, they contemplated a situation where the insurer might be required to pay for injuries caused by some tortfeasor where that tortfeasor was not able to make full compensation for those injuries, the court explained that whether the tortfeasor's inability to make full compensation resulted from lack of sufficient insurance, insolvency, or other reason, was irrelevant. The intention of the parties at the time of their contracting was that the insurer, not its insured, would assume the

risk that the insured might suffer a loss for which a tortfeasor could not make compensation, the court declared, concluding that in a situation where the liability of a tortfeasor was limited by the statute to an amount which would not compensate an insured for all his proven losses suffered in an automobile accident, the insured could recover from his insurer through the uninsured/underinsured motorist provisions of his automobile liability insurance, according to the terms thereof. *Karlson v Oklahoma City*, 711 P2d 72, (1985, Okla).

CONCLUSION

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