IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2010-CA-00738

MILDRED ELAINE THOMPSON RAYNER, INDIVIDUALLY, AND BILLY JOE BYNUM, AS NATURAL FATHER AND NEXT FRIEND OF BILLY JOE DAVID BYNUM, A MINOR

APPELLANTS

VS.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Respectfully submitted,

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

PHILIP W. GAINES (MS

LILLI EVANS BASS (MSB)

OF COUNSEL:

CURRIE JOHNSON GRIFFIN GAINES & MYERS, P.A. POST OFFICE BOX 750 (39205-0750) 1044 RIVER OAKS DRIVE JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39232 TELEPHONE: 601-969-1010

FACSIMILE: 601-969-5120

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act, an essential element of an

uninsured motorist claim is that Plaintiff "be legally entitled to recover" damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle (here, the Rankin County Sheriff/Deputy). However, in this case, a binding determination has already been made that no such legal liability is present with regard to the accident that is the subject matter of this UM claim. Thus, as a matter of law, collateral estoppel, res judicata, equity, and contract, Rayner cannot potentially recover against State Farm for Uninsured Motor Vehicle Coverage benefits as no prima facie showing can be made of the presence of legal liability on the part of the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle.

With regard to the Named Insured Plaintiff, Mildred Rayner, her action against State Farm would also be barred, even if legal liability on the part of the Rankin County Sheriff/Deputy were present, due to her failure to comply with the notice requirements of Miss. Code § 83-11-105. Ms. Rayner had previously filed Cause Number 2007-73C in the Rankin County Circuit Court against Sheriff Pennington, Rankin County, and Deputy McCarty, asserting legal liability against such defendants as the owner(s) and/or operator(s) of the uninsured motor vehicle involved in the accident in question; such action was prosecuted to its conclusion without provision of notice to State Farm, in spite of State Farm holding certain subrogation rights with regard to medical bills paid by State Farm but which were also apparently claimed as damages in such previous action. Finding that no legal liability was present on the part of the Defendants in that case, the trial court entered a Final Judgment dismissing it, and that ruling was subsequently affirmed by this Court. Plaintiffs in that action are the same Plaintiffs as in the present action, and it is admitted in this case, as a binding finding on those same Plaintiffs (and on any entity that would potentially assert any subrogation right through those same Plaintiffs) that the owner/operator of the other vehicle is not legally liable for the accident in question. The binding rulings in that previous related suit are therefore shown to also preclude State Farm from any potential subrogation recovery right, not only with regard to the medical bills already paid under other coverages, but also with regard to any potential additional UM Coverage payments. Mildred Rayner's UM claim is therefore also barred due to such refusal to comply with the Notice requirements of Miss. Code § 83-11-105 and her voiding of any potential UM subrogation rights (as also specifically granted by the Mississippi UM Act in Miss. Code § 83-11-107).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"This Court reviews errors of law de novo." Rayner, 25 So. 3d at 308 (quoting Fairley v. George County, 800 So. 2d 1159, 1162 (Miss. 2001)). This Court examines all the evidentiary matters before the trial court, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. Id. (citing Bullock v. Life Ins. Co. of Miss., 872 So. 2d 658, 660 (Miss. 2004)). This Court will review all the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id.

II. Argument

A. The Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act does not mandate payment of UM benefits in situations in which the owner/operator of an uninsured motor vehicle is not legally liable.

Miss. Code § 83-11-101(1) states in pertinent part as follows:

No automobile liability insurance policy or contract shall be issued or delivered after January 1, 1967, unless it contains an endorsement or provisions undertaking to pay the insured all sums which he shall be <u>legally entitled to recover</u> as damages for bodily injury or death from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle, . . . (emphasis added)²

²The Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act, Miss. Code § 83-11-101 et. seq., was subsequently amended in certain respects. Although we do not perceive those subsequent amendments as having an effect on the issues presented in this case, we herein refer to, cite, and quote from the Act as in effect on the relevant dates for this case.

In *Medders v. U.S. Fidelity and Guaranty, Co.*, 623 So. 2d 979 (Miss. 1993), this Court addressed this issue of "legal liability" as applied in the context of the Uninsured Motorist Statute, with regard to the statutory language of "legally entitled to recover," holding that "there is no statutory mandate to provide coverage in instances where the alleged tortfeasor is immune from liability." 623 So. 2d at 989. The *Medders* Court noted "that the clear meaning of the phrase legally entitled to recover found in the Mississippi UM statute limits the scope of the coverage mandated by the statute to those instances in which the insured would be entitled at the time of injury to recover through legal action." *Id.* at 989. That ruling is of course in conformity with the purpose and specific statutory language of the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act: to provide a means for Mississippi citizens to protect themselves from situations in which they are unable to recover funds from a vehicle tortfeasor due to the tortfeasor's irresponsibility in failing to have applicable liability insurance for the accident.

In *Medders*, this Court reviewed the relevant statutory language and also considered the deductive reasoning that had been enunciated on this point by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in a previous case. *Id.* at 983. In *Perkins v. Insurance Co. of North America*, 799 F. 2d 955, 957-58 (5th Cir. 1986), the Court held that UM benefits can only be owed if the insured is "legally entitled to recover damages" from the owner/operator of an uninsured motor vehicle.

The various factors and issues affecting the outcome of a decision of legal liability - including an immunity defense - are not mentioned in the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act as qualifiers of any sort, and such have no effect other than the extent to which they determine the outcome of the "legally liable" issue. In *Perkins* and *Medders*, the Plaintiffs sought to assert the same arguments that Plaintiffs/Appellants make herein - that Uninsured Motorist Coverage should

be perceived by the Court as being the legally preferred (and even a legally required) avenue of legal recovery even where the alleged tortfeasor is not legally liable, if that defense from legal liability is based upon a common law or statutory public policy pronouncement of civil immunity. Such argument is of course directly contrary to the direct language and provisions of Miss. Code § 83-11-101 (1), and the *Perkins* and *Medders* Courts rejected it on that logical basis. We respectfully submit that, in the present case, there is no valid logical reason to change that respected precedent, especially since such would directly contradict the plain and unambiguous language of the controlling statute.

Plaintiffs' arguments on appeal essentially admit, by their nature and substance, that the plain language of the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act and the existing common law rulings on this issue would require that the trial court be affirmed in this case. They therefore seek to have the Court change that existing body of law in a way that is inconsistent with the relevant language of the UM Statute. They first assert an overly broad public policy argument that is inconsistent with the direct language of the statute, and which ignores the other means that the Mississippi Legislature has specifically adopted to establish the parameters of payments and recovery for the situation at hand: 1) Plaintiffs have full access to other types of medical insurance coverage and/or governmental payments for medical bills incurred as a result of the accident; and 2) where actions taken by the Sheriff/Deputy are undertaken under circumstances and in a manner for which a civil recovery should be allowed to an injured party as a matter of law and public policy, such is allowed and even specifically funded (i.e., "legal liability" can be established, and paid, under the relevant Statutes and Tort Claims Fund). Plaintiffs' disagreement with Mississippi law regarding the legal liability of the Sheriff/Deputy/County, and their resulting feeling of aggrievement regarding those laws and public policies, have no logical connection to the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage

Act nor the purpose of such coverage in Mississippi - to provide Mississippi citizens with a means to protect themselves against irresponsible uninsured vehicle tortfeasors. As specifically referenced in the statute, in order for UM coverage to apply, the Plaintiff must be "legally entitled to recover" damages against the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle (with the failure to obtain payment for such legal liability being the result of the liable party's lack of available liability insurance). If there is no "legal liability" on the part of the adverse driver, then the presence - or lack thereof - of liability insurance is not a factor in the case.

Plaintiff would have the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act deemed to be a catch-all statute mandating payment of insurance benefits even where the inability of the injured party to recover against the adverse driver has nothing to do with the adverse driver's uninsured status. That type of argument, although contrary to reason and logic, was also attempted in *Perkins* and *Medders*, where it was rightly rejected.

In *Perkins*, the Fifth Circuit held that a claim for UM benefits for a work-related injury is barred by the exclusive remedy provisions of worker's compensation. 799 F. 2d at 957. The *Perkins* Court, applying the language of the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act, determined exactly what the trial court determined in this case - that one is entitled to UM benefits only if legally entitled to recover damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured vehicle. *Id.* at 958. In the *Medders* case, the same analysis by the Mississippi Supreme Court, likewise, resulted in the same logical conclusion.

In both *Medders* and *Perkins*, the insured Plaintiffs also sought to argue rulings from other jurisdictions, even though the rulings in those other jurisdictions were dependent upon UM statutes and case precedents involving significantly different language. The Federal Fifth Circuit and this Honorable Court properly recognized that those arguments were based upon different statutory

language and otherwise were inconsistent with the plain and unambiguous language of Miss. Code §83-11-101(1), and rejected those arguments in those cases. We respectfully submit that Plaintiffs' arguments in this case that are similarly derived from other jurisdictions, in violation of the unambiguous language of the applicable Mississippi statute and well-reasoned Mississippi common law precedents, should likewise be rejected in this case. In Wachtler v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., this Court affirmed its position that legal liability must attach for UM benefits to be applicable and once again rejected following other jurisdictions. 835 So. 2d 23, 27 (Miss. 2009) ("We believe that the clear meaning of the language, "legally entitled to recover," imports a condition precedent to the uninsured motorist insurer's obligation that the insured have a legally enforceable right to recover damages from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle.")

Mississippi law on this point, as it is presently articulated and presented to the public, is a consistent logical application of the plain meaning of the statutory language. Plaintiff's requested change in Mississippi law would not only be inconsistent with the common law precedents in this area of law, but also logically inconsistent with the underlying statutory language; such a situation, therefore, appears to be one in which the doctrine of *stare decisis* is especially appropos.

The defenses of an uninsured motorist, including all civil immunity defenses that have been considered by the Courts, have consistently been held by the Mississippi Supreme Court to be properly available as a defense of UM coverage claims. If Plaintiffs are aggrieved by this in a particular case, the proper rule of law that they should seek to change would be the law providing that defense and precluding "legal liability" on the part of the adverse driver. For instance, in the case of *Aitken v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 404 So . 2d 1040 (Miss. 1981), where the legal defense was one of spousal immunity, this Court aptly ruled that "[i]t was not intended that the named insured be granted greater rights against the uninsured motorist carrier than she would have

enjoyed against the uninsured tort feasor." *Id.* at 1045. "The insurance carrier thus succeeds to the defenses available to the so-called uninsured motorist." *Id.* As is well known, the doctrine of spousal immunity has since been abolished as a negligence defense in Mississippi; now, therefore, if a spouse is "legally liable" to an injured party but has no liability insurance to pay that legal liability, the injured party may seek UM coverage benefits (with an accompanying subrogation right being given to the UM carrier to obtain repayment over time against the legally liable spouse). But, as long as the spousal immunity was in place as a defense from legal liability, no valid UM claim was present, and the *Aitken* Court accordingly ruled that no valid UM claim was present at that time in that case. Likewise, in the present case, since the adverse driver has a qualified immunity from legal liability, no UM coverage situation is present as Plaintiffs' failure to recover is not due to lack of Liability Insurance Coverage; it is due to their simply being no legal liability on the part of the adverse driver, as a matter of Mississippi law and the express prior ruling of this Court in the case in question.

In the present case, the Plaintiffs have previously faced a binding Mississippi Court decision to the effect that the Sheriff/Deputy are not legally liable to Plaintiffs for this accident. The exact defense providing the basis for the binding determination of no legal liability - whether it be civil immunity, lack of breach of a legal duty, lack of causation, or lack of resulting damages - does not matter; under the plain language of Miss. Code § 83-11-101(1), if the owner/operator of an uninsured motor vehicle is not "legally liable" to the Plaintiff, then the Plaintiff likewise cannot impose legal liability on his UM insuror. As stated in *Aitken*, any other result would render the Uninsured Motorist Statute and State Farm's subrogation rights meaningless. *Aitken*, 404 So. 2d at 1045.

Rayner argues that UM statutes are to be liberally construed in favor of the insured and to preclude exemptions from coverage. However, this case does not involve any policy exemption nor

ambiguity of policy language (or of statutory language). To the contrary, it requires reference to the plain and unambiguous language of Miss. Code §83-11-101(1) and the logically consistent case law that has followed it. For purposes of this case, it is admitted by State Farm that the Sheriff/Deputy should be considered to be an uninsured motorist and that Plaintiffs incurred some degree of bodily injury as a result of the accident. However, where the Plaintiffs are not "legally entitled to recover" damages from the owner/operator of the uninsured motor vehicle, the plain language of Miss. Code § 83-11-101(1) does not mandate coverage, and the State Farm policy language that matches that statutory language likewise precludes this UM claim. This case is the same as in those previously presenting this issue to this Court: there is simply no person from whom Rayner is legally entitled to recover damages. Pursuant to the UM policy and the Mississippi Uninsured Motorist Coverage Act, Rayner therefore has no valid UM claim, as a matter of law. See Medders, 623 So. 2d at 988; Aithen, 404 So. 2d at 1045.

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